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·1· · · · · · · · · BE IT REMEMBERED that on Tuesday, July 22,

·2· ·2025, 1:30 p.m., before JUDGE JESSICA KRUSZEWSKI, via video

·3· ·conference platform, the following proceedings were had, to

·4· ·wit:

·5· · · · · · · · · · · ·(All parties present via Zoom video)

·6

·7· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Good afternoon.· We're

·8· ·here today for a pre-hearing conference in Docket TC-250362,

·9· ·which is captioned in the matter of The Application of

10· ·Lakeside Transportation for authority to operate as an auto

11· ·transportation company in the State of Washington.

12· · · · · · ·My name is Jessica Kruszewski.· I am an

13· ·administrative law judge with the Washington Utilities and

14· ·Transportation Commission, and I will be presiding in this

15· ·matter, and I will be issuing an initial order.

16· · · · · · ·So I do want to start by taking appearances for

17· ·the record.· So for the record, can I please have the

18· ·representative for Lakeside Transportation please identify

19· ·yourself.

20· · · · · · · · · ATTY KIMBALL:· Again, it's Mark Kimball, lead

21· ·counsel, and Ben Phillips, who is working with me on the

22· ·matter.· And then our client, Mr. Haile Selassie, is also

23· ·present with us in our conference room here.

24· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Great.· Thank you.

25· · · · · · ·Can we have the representative for PNTS please
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·1· ·identify themselves?
·2· · · · · · · · · ATTY GARDINER:· Good afternoon.· Hamilton
·3· ·Gardiner of Holmquist & Gardiner, PLLC, and we are
·4· ·representing PNTS in this matter.
·5· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Okay, great.· Thank you.
·6· · · · · · ·Can we have commission staff?
·7· · · · · · · · · ATTY O'BRIEN:· Yes.· Colin O'Brien, assistant
·8· ·attorney general representing staff.
·9· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Thank you.· And can we
10· ·have public counsel?
11· · · · · · · · · ATTY SYKES:· Yes.· Rob Sykes, assistant
12· ·attorney general for public counsel.
13· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Okay, great.· Do we
14· ·have -- are there any organizations on the call that want to
15· ·give a verbal notice of appearance?
16· · · · · · ·Hearing none, we will move on.
17· · · · · · ·Before we get started are there any preliminary
18· ·matters anybody would like to address?
19· · · · · · · · · ATTY GARDINER:· None from us.
20· · · · · · · · · ATTY KIMBALL:· None from us.
21· · · · · · · · · ATTY GARDINER:· Your Honor, the only thing
22· ·that -- I don't know if it's a preliminary matter or when
23· ·you'd like to address it would be our motion to convert this
24· ·to a brief adjudication matter.· I'm not sure if you want to
25· ·address that now or later.
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·1· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Let's go ahead and address

·2· ·that now if you want to -- if you want to start with your

·3· ·motion, and then we'll get responses.

·4· · · · · · · · · ATTY GARDINER:· Sure.· Okay.· So as was

·5· ·indicated by my client in the email to everybody that's on

·6· ·this call and the Zoom call, is that PNTS would request that

·7· ·this matter be converted over to a brief adjudication

·8· ·matter.· And the authority to do so is -- would be under WAC

·9· ·480-07-61, subsection f, where matters which are suitable

10· ·for brief adjudication are applications for authority to

11· ·provide auto transportation service to which a company

12· ·properly objects, for which here PNTS timely did object to

13· ·the application made by Lakeside Transportation.

14· · · · · · ·In their application they indicated the reasons

15· ·why is that being the same service area is already covered;

16· ·the service that is being provided by PNTS is satisfactory

17· ·and there is no reason for duplicate services here.

18· · · · · · ·Under WAC 480-30-116, subsection 3, the

19· ·adjudication of applications subject to an objection filed

20· ·under RCW 81.68.040 will be accomplished in the simplest and

21· ·most expeditious manner consistent with state law.· The

22· ·adjudication will be limited to the question of whether the

23· ·objecting company holds a certificate to provide the same

24· ·service in the same territory where the objecting company

25· ·provides the same service and whether an objecting company,
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·1· ·here, PNTS, will provide the same service to the
·2· ·satisfaction of the Commission.
·3· · · · · · ·So under those specific statutes, we'd ask that
·4· ·this matter be converted to a brief adjudication.
·5· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Thank you for that.
·6· · · · · · ·Can we get a response from Lakeside
·7· ·Transportation?
·8· · · · · · · · · ATTY KIMBALL:· Mr. Phillips will be
·9· ·responding.
10· · · · · · · · · ATTY PHILLIPS:· Thank you, Your Honor.
11· · · · · · ·Briefly, as a procedural matter, it was my
12· ·understanding that this was disposed of by the Court
13· ·previously by email, in which we lodged our objection to an
14· ·accelerated proceeding or any expedited basis for disposing
15· ·of this matter on a BAP, brief adjudicated procedure.
16· · · · · · ·Um, as to the merits of that, we did not fully
17· ·brief the merits in preparation to bring them down on the
18· ·record, but if the Court is so disposed, we can have that
19· ·briefing.
20· · · · · · ·I've reviewed the briefing as to the merits that
21· ·opposing counsel's brought up, but I'm not prepared to
22· ·give -- into depth into those on a brief adjudicated basis
23· ·this afternoon.· This hearing was for setting a case
24· ·schedule, is my understanding.
25· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Sure, it is.· We did
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·1· ·indicate by email that we would possibly entertain an oral
·2· ·motion at this hearing.· We can't take motions by email, so
·3· ·the email exchanges aren't really sufficient.
·4· · · · · · ·So I think -- well, let me hear from staff and
·5· ·public counsel first and their positions.· Do we have
·6· ·staff -- can we have -- do you have a response to the
·7· ·motion?
·8· · · · · · · · · ATTY O'BRIEN:· Yes, Your Honor.· Staff
·9· ·doesn't oppose the conversion to a brief adjudicated
10· ·proceeding in this matter.
11· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Public Counsel, do you
12· ·have a position?
13· · · · · · · · · ATTY SYKES:· Public counsel takes no
14· ·position.
15· · · · · · · · · ATTY PHILLIPS:· If the Court is so disposed,
16· ·we can continue to present more reasons.
17· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Sure.· I think mostly I
18· ·would just want to know what the basis would be for your
19· ·objection to a BAP.
20· · · · · · · · · ATTY PHILLIPS:· Well, in brief, having an
21· ·additional service is not duplicative.· It serves the public
22· ·necessity to have an additional service.· The representation
23· ·that the -- that the services of Premier and Lakeside
24· ·Limousine are identical is incorrect, which evidentiary
25· ·examination will bear out.
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·1· · · · · · ·The, um -- the service coverage areas are

·2· ·distinct.· The type of service is different.· I believe

·3· ·Premier offers scheduled service in a -- for multiple

·4· ·parties.· Lakeside service is on demand.· The type of

·5· ·vehicle is different.· The price -- the price point is

·6· ·different.· The convenience to the customer is different.

·7· · · · · · ·In a broader sense, competition fosters innovation

·8· ·and improved service.· I did a test to see if Lakeside

·9· ·Transportation is different or end responsive, and --

10· ·without the client even knowing, and it turned out that the

11· ·price is not predatory; it's higher.· It offers a demand of

12· ·different areas.· And there's no harm to competition by

13· ·having additional players in a market who offer distinct

14· ·services, additional operators who offer transportation on

15· ·demand to and from the airport.

16· · · · · · ·So for those reasons, Lakeside would respectfully

17· ·request the UTC deny disposing of this matter on a brief

18· ·adjudicated proceeding.· This requires more evidentiary

19· ·examination of facts.

20· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· So I think, really, the

21· ·question would be, do you expect to engage in discovery?· Is

22· ·that something that you find necessary in this proceeding?

23· · · · · · · · · ATTY PHILLIPS:· Certainly.· Certainly, it is.

24· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Okay.· So at this point

25· ·I'm going to take the motion and the responses under
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·1· ·advisement, and I will issue a decision in writing.

·2· · · · · · ·For now we are going to continue on with the

·3· ·pre-hearing conference, and then we will issue a decision,

·4· ·but assuming that we are going to move forward, I would like

·5· ·to still continue with this conference so that if we do end

·6· ·up -- if we don't end up converting this to a BAP, I'd like

·7· ·to have some kind of procedural schedule together.· So from

·8· ·here we're still going to continue on, and then, like I

·9· ·said, we will issue a decision.

10· · · · · · ·Are there -- not including PNTS, are there any

11· ·petitions to intervene in this matter?· Are there any

12· ·parties wishing to petition to intervene on the line?

13· · · · · · ·Okay.· Hearing none, we'll move on.

14· · · · · · ·So I would like to discuss a procedural schedule

15· ·in the event that we end up needing one.· Have any of the

16· ·parties had the opportunity to discuss a procedural schedule

17· ·with each other?

18· · · · · · · · · ATTY KIMBALL:· We have not.

19· · · · · · · · · ATTY GARDINER:· Unfortunately not,

20· ·Your Honor.· I was just brought on yesterday afternoon.

21· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Okay.· Would you -- would

22· ·you prefer that -- to have a little bit of time where you

23· ·can discuss a procedural schedule?· And I can step off.· Or

24· ·do any of the parties feel like that would be beneficial?

25· · · · · · · · · ATTY KIMBALL:· On behalf of the applicant, I
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·1· ·think it might be helpful to have the opportunity to discuss
·2· ·with Mr. Gardiner his thoughts on discovery issues and
·3· ·possibly, you know, even depositions, although I don't
·4· ·anticipate those at this time.
·5· · · · · · ·But I think it would be helpful for us to have the
·6· ·opportunity to briefly discuss what we would be looking at,
·7· ·should a BAP not be a pursuit.
·8· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Okay.· So this is what we
·9· ·will do.· We can take a brief recess, and I will leave the
10· ·meeting so that you can discuss any of those issues you
11· ·think might arise.· Also, if you want to discuss a schedule,
12· ·I mean, in a worst-case scenario, I guess we can have
13· ·everybody just email their proposed schedules and the
14· ·Commission can try to figure it out.· But at that point you
15· ·kind of lose control over when hearings are going to be and
16· ·then it's just really up to us to decide, and I don't know
17· ·if anybody necessarily wants that.
18· · · · · · ·So I think it would be great if we could have a
19· ·brief recess so that you could discuss those issues and also
20· ·a procedural schedule.
21· · · · · · · · · ATTY GARDINER:· That's fine.· That's fine
22· ·here.· I don't think it should take us too long.· We can
23· ·chat -- we can chat on this Zoom, I think, is what you're
24· ·suggesting?
25· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Sure.· Sure.· That way

Page 12
·1· ·staff and public counsel can also participate.· I am going
·2· ·to figure out how to leave the meeting, and so we will go
·3· ·off the record.
·4· · · · · · · · · · · ·(Off record 1:42-2:23 p.m.)

·5· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Is there an agreement to a
·6· ·procedural schedule?
·7· · · · · · · · · ATTY KIMBALL:· Yes.
·8· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Does anybody in particular
·9· ·want to read the procedural schedule into the record?· If
10· ·not, I'll have staff's attorney do it.
11· · · · · · · · · ATTY KIMBALL:· Staff's attorney is fine.  I
12· ·think we've discussed it extensively.
13· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Mr. O'Brien, are you okay

14· ·with reading the procedural schedule into the record?
15· · · · · · · · · ATTY O'BRIEN:· Yes, Your Honor.
16· · · · · · ·So the procedural schedule the parties have agreed
17· ·to is initial testimony due October 10.
18· · · · · · ·Response testimony due October 31.
19· · · · · · ·There's a bunch of dates that parties want to have
20· ·on November 14th, would be rebuttal and cross-answering,
21· ·witness lists and discovery cutoff.
22· · · · · · ·Hearing on November 19th and 20th and post-hearing
23· ·briefs on December 12th.

24· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Okay.· Are the parties
25· ·recommending or are they just requesting one round of
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·1· ·briefing?
·2· · · · · · · · · ATTY O'BRIEN:· That was the plan.· Yes,
·3· ·Your Honor.
·4· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· And you're anticipating
·5· ·two days for the hearing?
·6· · · · · · · · · ATTY KIMBALL:· Probably only one, but it's
·7· ·better to have two if we can reserve.
·8· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Okay.· And then I just
·9· ·want to make sure that all the parties are aware that, of
10· ·course, this proceeding is going to be limited based on the
11· ·WAC, which actually was discussed by Mr. Hamilton.· So I
12· ·just want to make sure that through the discovery process
13· ·and everything, that everybody is aware that we are limited
14· ·to the issues that are listed in WAC 480-30-116.· Okay?
15· · · · · · ·So there are currently no intervenors, so I'm not
16· ·going to discuss intervenor funding right now.
17· · · · · · ·So next we're going to discuss data requests.· If
18· ·the parties have a discovery dispute, they should attempt to
19· ·work those out in good faith, but if not, then you can bring
20· ·motions before the Commission for resolution.· Of course, I
21· ·would encourage the parties to be collaborative and reach
22· ·out to opposing counsel before filing a motion to compel or
23· ·a motion to strike testimony for a discovery violation.
24· · · · · · ·Have the parties discussed a shortening --
25· ·discussed shortening the response time for data requests
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·1· ·which is normally ten days?

·2· · · · · · · · · ATTY KIMBALL:· We did not have that

·3· ·discussion.· I would request ten days.

·4· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Okay.· We can stick with

·5· ·the ten days.· It's just always good to ask.

·6· · · · · · · · · ATTY O'BRIEN:· Your Honor, I don't know if it

·7· ·would be possible within the discovery rules; would it be

·8· ·possible to have a shortened turnaround time for data

·9· ·requests submitted on November 14th, given that we're doing

10· ·the discovery cutoff on the 14th and the hearing on the

11· ·19th?

12· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Let me look into that.  I

13· ·don't have the discovery rules right in front of me, so

14· ·that's something that I will have to take under advisement

15· ·and we can include in the pre-hearing conference order.

16· · · · · · · · · ATTY O'BRIEN:· Thank you, Your Honor.

17· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· You're welcome.· Thank you

18· ·for bringing that up.

19· · · · · · ·So I guess just moving on with the data request,

20· ·parties often request any data requests and responses are

21· ·shared with every other party.· It would make it easier on

22· ·the parties by including such a requirement in the

23· ·pre-hearing conference order.· Is there any objection to

24· ·that requirement?

25· · · · · · · · · ATTY KIMBALL:· No objection.
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·1· · · · · · · · · ATTY GARDINER:· No objection.

·2· · · · · · · · · ATTY O'BRIEN:· No objection.

·3· · · · · · · · · ATTY SYKES:· No objection.

·4· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· So moving on to the

·5· ·protective orders, would the parties like a protective order

·6· ·in this matter?

·7· · · · · · · · · ATTY KIMBALL:· Yes.

·8· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Okay.· We will issue a

·9· ·standard protective order in conjunction with the

10· ·pre-hearing conference order in this matter.

11· · · · · · ·All right.· So next is electronic filing and

12· ·electronic service.· The Commission requires electronic

13· ·filing of documents for formal filings.· Commission rules

14· ·provide for electronic service of documents.· The Commission

15· ·will serve the parties electronically and the parties will

16· ·serve each other electronically, and if any party has not

17· ·yet designated a lead representative for service, please do

18· ·so via email to us as soon as possible.

19· · · · · · ·You can email me at Jessica, J-E-S-S-I-C-A, dot

20· ·Kruszewski, K-R-U-S-Z-E-W-K-S-I, at UTC.WA.GOV.· And if

21· ·anybody would like to add names and emails addresses of

22· ·other representatives or support staff who should receive

23· ·electronic courtesy copies of all documents filed in this

24· ·proceeding, please email that to me as well.

25· · · · · · ·Under WAC 480-07-461(b), the deadline for filing
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·1· ·errata sheets to exhibits may be established in the
·2· ·pre-hearing conference order.· Does anybody have an
·3· ·objection for setting that deadline a week prior to the
·4· ·evidentiary hearing?
·5· · · · · · · · · ATTY GARDINER:· No objection.
·6· · · · · · · · · ATTY KIMBALL:· No objection.
·7· · · · · · · · · ATTY O'BRIEN:· No objection.
·8· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Is there anything else
·9· ·that any party would like to address before we adjourn?
10· · · · · · · · · ATTY KIMBALL:· Nothing from the applicant.
11· · · · · · · · · ATTY GARDINER:· Nothing here.
12· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Okay.· Anything from
13· ·staff?
14· · · · · · · · · ATTY O'BRIEN:· Just wanting to confirm that
15· ·the request to potentially convert this into a BAP
16· ·proceeding is still under advisement, Your Honor.
17· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· We'll issue a written
18· ·decision on that.· I just don't have enough information in
19· ·front of me to make a ruling on that right now, so we'll
20· ·issue that in writing.
21· · · · · · ·Any other --
22· · · · · · · · · ATTY GARDINER:· And the scheduling order will
23· ·also be issued in writing, I'm assuming?
24· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Yeah, I mean, obviously,
25· ·if this is converted to a BAP, we're not going to have the
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·1· ·same scheduling order.· I did want to still have everyone
·2· ·work out a schedule, in the event that it's not converted,
·3· ·because I don't want to have to come back and redo this
·4· ·hearing.· I was just trying to be a little efficient with
·5· ·everybody's time and just, you know, efficient with the

·6· ·timeline of this proceeding.
·7· · · · · · · · · ATTY GARDINER:· Appreciate it.
·8· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Does public counsel have
·9· ·anything before we adjourn?
10· · · · · · · · · ATTY SYKES:· No, nothing from public counsel.
11· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Does anybody else have
12· ·anything?
13· · · · · · · · · ATTY KIMBALL:· Nothing from applicant.
14· · · · · · · · · ATTY O'BRIEN:· Nothing here.
15· · · · · · · · · JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:· Okay.· In that case we are

16· ·adjourned and we are off the record.
17· · · · · · · · · · · ·(Proceeding concluded 2:31 p.m.)
18
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·1

·2· · · · · · · · · · · C E R T I F I C A T E

·3

·4

· · ·STATE OF WASHINGTON )· ·I, Ann Marie G. Allison, CCR,

·5

· · · · · · · · · · · · ·)· ·certified court reporter, State of

·6

· · ·COUNTY OF PIERCE· · )· ·Washington, do hereby certify:

·7

·8· · · ·That the foregoing hearing was taken before me and

· · ·completed on July 22, 2025, and thereafter transcribed by

·9· ·me; that the foregoing hearing is a full, true and complete

· · ·transcript of all questions, answers, objections, motions

10· ·and exceptions;

11· · · ·That I am not a relative, employee, attorney or counsel

· · ·of any party to this action, or relative or employee of any

12· ·such attorney or counsel, and that I am not financially

· · ·interested in the said action or the outcome thereof;

13

· · · · ·IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my signature on

14· ·the 29th day of July, 2025.
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19· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·______________________________

20· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·/s/Ann Marie G. Allison, CCR

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·Certified Court Reporter #3375
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 1                  BE IT REMEMBERED that on Tuesday, July 22,

 2   2025, 1:30 p.m., before JUDGE JESSICA KRUSZEWSKI, via video

 3   conference platform, the following proceedings were had, to

 4   wit:

 5                       (All parties present via Zoom video)

 6

 7                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Good afternoon.  We're

 8   here today for a pre-hearing conference in Docket TC-250362,

 9   which is captioned in the matter of The Application of

10   Lakeside Transportation for authority to operate as an auto

11   transportation company in the State of Washington.

12             My name is Jessica Kruszewski.  I am an

13   administrative law judge with the Washington Utilities and

14   Transportation Commission, and I will be presiding in this

15   matter, and I will be issuing an initial order.

16             So I do want to start by taking appearances for

17   the record.  So for the record, can I please have the

18   representative for Lakeside Transportation please identify

19   yourself.

20                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Again, it's Mark Kimball, lead

21   counsel, and Ben Phillips, who is working with me on the

22   matter.  And then our client, Mr. Haile Selassie, is also

23   present with us in our conference room here.

24                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Great.  Thank you.

25             Can we have the representative for PNTS please
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 1   identify themselves?

 2                  ATTY GARDINER:  Good afternoon.  Hamilton

 3   Gardiner of Holmquist & Gardiner, PLLC, and we are

 4   representing PNTS in this matter.

 5                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay, great.  Thank you.

 6             Can we have commission staff?

 7                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Yes.  Colin O'Brien, assistant

 8   attorney general representing staff.

 9                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Thank you.  And can we

10   have public counsel?

11                  ATTY SYKES:  Yes.  Rob Sykes, assistant

12   attorney general for public counsel.

13                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay, great.  Do we

14   have -- are there any organizations on the call that want to

15   give a verbal notice of appearance?

16             Hearing none, we will move on.

17             Before we get started are there any preliminary

18   matters anybody would like to address?

19                  ATTY GARDINER:  None from us.

20                  ATTY KIMBALL:  None from us.

21                  ATTY GARDINER:  Your Honor, the only thing

22   that -- I don't know if it's a preliminary matter or when

23   you'd like to address it would be our motion to convert this

24   to a brief adjudication matter.  I'm not sure if you want to

25   address that now or later.
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 1                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Let's go ahead and address

 2   that now if you want to -- if you want to start with your

 3   motion, and then we'll get responses.

 4                  ATTY GARDINER:  Sure.  Okay.  So as was

 5   indicated by my client in the email to everybody that's on

 6   this call and the Zoom call, is that PNTS would request that

 7   this matter be converted over to a brief adjudication

 8   matter.  And the authority to do so is -- would be under WAC

 9   480-07-61, subsection f, where matters which are suitable

10   for brief adjudication are applications for authority to

11   provide auto transportation service to which a company

12   properly objects, for which here PNTS timely did object to

13   the application made by Lakeside Transportation.

14             In their application they indicated the reasons

15   why is that being the same service area is already covered;

16   the service that is being provided by PNTS is satisfactory

17   and there is no reason for duplicate services here.

18             Under WAC 480-30-116, subsection 3, the

19   adjudication of applications subject to an objection filed

20   under RCW 81.68.040 will be accomplished in the simplest and

21   most expeditious manner consistent with state law.  The

22   adjudication will be limited to the question of whether the

23   objecting company holds a certificate to provide the same

24   service in the same territory where the objecting company

25   provides the same service and whether an objecting company,
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 1   here, PNTS, will provide the same service to the

 2   satisfaction of the Commission.

 3             So under those specific statutes, we'd ask that

 4   this matter be converted to a brief adjudication.

 5                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Thank you for that.

 6             Can we get a response from Lakeside

 7   Transportation?

 8                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Mr. Phillips will be

 9   responding.

10                  ATTY PHILLIPS:  Thank you, Your Honor.

11             Briefly, as a procedural matter, it was my

12   understanding that this was disposed of by the Court

13   previously by email, in which we lodged our objection to an

14   accelerated proceeding or any expedited basis for disposing

15   of this matter on a BAP, brief adjudicated procedure.

16             Um, as to the merits of that, we did not fully

17   brief the merits in preparation to bring them down on the

18   record, but if the Court is so disposed, we can have that

19   briefing.

20             I've reviewed the briefing as to the merits that

21   opposing counsel's brought up, but I'm not prepared to

22   give -- into depth into those on a brief adjudicated basis

23   this afternoon.  This hearing was for setting a case

24   schedule, is my understanding.

25                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Sure, it is.  We did
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 1   indicate by email that we would possibly entertain an oral

 2   motion at this hearing.  We can't take motions by email, so

 3   the email exchanges aren't really sufficient.

 4             So I think -- well, let me hear from staff and

 5   public counsel first and their positions.  Do we have

 6   staff -- can we have -- do you have a response to the

 7   motion?

 8                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Yes, Your Honor.  Staff

 9   doesn't oppose the conversion to a brief adjudicated

10   proceeding in this matter.

11                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Public Counsel, do you

12   have a position?

13                  ATTY SYKES:  Public counsel takes no

14   position.

15                  ATTY PHILLIPS:  If the Court is so disposed,

16   we can continue to present more reasons.

17                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Sure.  I think mostly I

18   would just want to know what the basis would be for your

19   objection to a BAP.

20                  ATTY PHILLIPS:  Well, in brief, having an

21   additional service is not duplicative.  It serves the public

22   necessity to have an additional service.  The representation

23   that the -- that the services of Premier and Lakeside

24   Limousine are identical is incorrect, which evidentiary

25   examination will bear out.
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 1             The, um -- the service coverage areas are

 2   distinct.  The type of service is different.  I believe

 3   Premier offers scheduled service in a -- for multiple

 4   parties.  Lakeside service is on demand.  The type of

 5   vehicle is different.  The price -- the price point is

 6   different.  The convenience to the customer is different.

 7             In a broader sense, competition fosters innovation

 8   and improved service.  I did a test to see if Lakeside

 9   Transportation is different or end responsive, and --

10   without the client even knowing, and it turned out that the

11   price is not predatory; it's higher.  It offers a demand of

12   different areas.  And there's no harm to competition by

13   having additional players in a market who offer distinct

14   services, additional operators who offer transportation on

15   demand to and from the airport.

16             So for those reasons, Lakeside would respectfully

17   request the UTC deny disposing of this matter on a brief

18   adjudicated proceeding.  This requires more evidentiary

19   examination of facts.

20                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  So I think, really, the

21   question would be, do you expect to engage in discovery?  Is

22   that something that you find necessary in this proceeding?

23                  ATTY PHILLIPS:  Certainly.  Certainly, it is.

24                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  So at this point

25   I'm going to take the motion and the responses under
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 1   advisement, and I will issue a decision in writing.

 2             For now we are going to continue on with the

 3   pre-hearing conference, and then we will issue a decision,

 4   but assuming that we are going to move forward, I would like

 5   to still continue with this conference so that if we do end

 6   up -- if we don't end up converting this to a BAP, I'd like

 7   to have some kind of procedural schedule together.  So from

 8   here we're still going to continue on, and then, like I

 9   said, we will issue a decision.

10             Are there -- not including PNTS, are there any

11   petitions to intervene in this matter?  Are there any

12   parties wishing to petition to intervene on the line?

13             Okay.  Hearing none, we'll move on.

14             So I would like to discuss a procedural schedule

15   in the event that we end up needing one.  Have any of the

16   parties had the opportunity to discuss a procedural schedule

17   with each other?

18                  ATTY KIMBALL:  We have not.

19                  ATTY GARDINER:  Unfortunately not,

20   Your Honor.  I was just brought on yesterday afternoon.

21                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  Would you -- would

22   you prefer that -- to have a little bit of time where you

23   can discuss a procedural schedule?  And I can step off.  Or

24   do any of the parties feel like that would be beneficial?

25                  ATTY KIMBALL:  On behalf of the applicant, I
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 1   think it might be helpful to have the opportunity to discuss

 2   with Mr. Gardiner his thoughts on discovery issues and

 3   possibly, you know, even depositions, although I don't

 4   anticipate those at this time.

 5             But I think it would be helpful for us to have the

 6   opportunity to briefly discuss what we would be looking at,

 7   should a BAP not be a pursuit.

 8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  So this is what we

 9   will do.  We can take a brief recess, and I will leave the

10   meeting so that you can discuss any of those issues you

11   think might arise.  Also, if you want to discuss a schedule,

12   I mean, in a worst-case scenario, I guess we can have

13   everybody just email their proposed schedules and the

14   Commission can try to figure it out.  But at that point you

15   kind of lose control over when hearings are going to be and

16   then it's just really up to us to decide, and I don't know

17   if anybody necessarily wants that.

18             So I think it would be great if we could have a

19   brief recess so that you could discuss those issues and also

20   a procedural schedule.

21                  ATTY GARDINER:  That's fine.  That's fine

22   here.  I don't think it should take us too long.  We can

23   chat -- we can chat on this Zoom, I think, is what you're

24   suggesting?

25                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Sure.  Sure.  That way
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 1   staff and public counsel can also participate.  I am going

 2   to figure out how to leave the meeting, and so we will go

 3   off the record.

 4                       (Off record 1:42-2:23 p.m.)

 5                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Is there an agreement to a

 6   procedural schedule?

 7                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Yes.

 8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Does anybody in particular

 9   want to read the procedural schedule into the record?  If

10   not, I'll have staff's attorney do it.

11                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Staff's attorney is fine.  I

12   think we've discussed it extensively.

13                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Mr. O'Brien, are you okay

14   with reading the procedural schedule into the record?

15                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Yes, Your Honor.

16             So the procedural schedule the parties have agreed

17   to is initial testimony due October 10.

18             Response testimony due October 31.

19             There's a bunch of dates that parties want to have

20   on November 14th, would be rebuttal and cross-answering,

21   witness lists and discovery cutoff.

22             Hearing on November 19th and 20th and post-hearing

23   briefs on December 12th.

24                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  Are the parties

25   recommending or are they just requesting one round of
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 1   briefing?

 2                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  That was the plan.  Yes,

 3   Your Honor.

 4                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  And you're anticipating

 5   two days for the hearing?

 6                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Probably only one, but it's

 7   better to have two if we can reserve.

 8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  And then I just

 9   want to make sure that all the parties are aware that, of

10   course, this proceeding is going to be limited based on the

11   WAC, which actually was discussed by Mr. Hamilton.  So I

12   just want to make sure that through the discovery process

13   and everything, that everybody is aware that we are limited

14   to the issues that are listed in WAC 480-30-116.  Okay?

15             So there are currently no intervenors, so I'm not

16   going to discuss intervenor funding right now.

17             So next we're going to discuss data requests.  If

18   the parties have a discovery dispute, they should attempt to

19   work those out in good faith, but if not, then you can bring

20   motions before the Commission for resolution.  Of course, I

21   would encourage the parties to be collaborative and reach

22   out to opposing counsel before filing a motion to compel or

23   a motion to strike testimony for a discovery violation.

24             Have the parties discussed a shortening --

25   discussed shortening the response time for data requests
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 1   which is normally ten days?

 2                  ATTY KIMBALL:  We did not have that

 3   discussion.  I would request ten days.

 4                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  We can stick with

 5   the ten days.  It's just always good to ask.

 6                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Your Honor, I don't know if it

 7   would be possible within the discovery rules; would it be

 8   possible to have a shortened turnaround time for data

 9   requests submitted on November 14th, given that we're doing

10   the discovery cutoff on the 14th and the hearing on the

11   19th?

12                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Let me look into that.  I

13   don't have the discovery rules right in front of me, so

14   that's something that I will have to take under advisement

15   and we can include in the pre-hearing conference order.

16                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.

17                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  You're welcome.  Thank you

18   for bringing that up.

19             So I guess just moving on with the data request,

20   parties often request any data requests and responses are

21   shared with every other party.  It would make it easier on

22   the parties by including such a requirement in the

23   pre-hearing conference order.  Is there any objection to

24   that requirement?

25                  ATTY KIMBALL:  No objection.
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 1                  ATTY GARDINER:  No objection.

 2                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  No objection.

 3                  ATTY SYKES:  No objection.

 4                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  So moving on to the

 5   protective orders, would the parties like a protective order

 6   in this matter?

 7                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Yes.

 8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  We will issue a

 9   standard protective order in conjunction with the

10   pre-hearing conference order in this matter.

11             All right.  So next is electronic filing and

12   electronic service.  The Commission requires electronic

13   filing of documents for formal filings.  Commission rules

14   provide for electronic service of documents.  The Commission

15   will serve the parties electronically and the parties will

16   serve each other electronically, and if any party has not

17   yet designated a lead representative for service, please do

18   so via email to us as soon as possible.

19             You can email me at Jessica, J-E-S-S-I-C-A, dot

20   Kruszewski, K-R-U-S-Z-E-W-K-S-I, at UTC.WA.GOV.  And if

21   anybody would like to add names and emails addresses of

22   other representatives or support staff who should receive

23   electronic courtesy copies of all documents filed in this

24   proceeding, please email that to me as well.

25             Under WAC 480-07-461(b), the deadline for filing
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 1   errata sheets to exhibits may be established in the

 2   pre-hearing conference order.  Does anybody have an

 3   objection for setting that deadline a week prior to the

 4   evidentiary hearing?

 5                  ATTY GARDINER:  No objection.

 6                  ATTY KIMBALL:  No objection.

 7                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  No objection.

 8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Is there anything else

 9   that any party would like to address before we adjourn?

10                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Nothing from the applicant.

11                  ATTY GARDINER:  Nothing here.

12                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  Anything from

13   staff?

14                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Just wanting to confirm that

15   the request to potentially convert this into a BAP

16   proceeding is still under advisement, Your Honor.

17                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  We'll issue a written

18   decision on that.  I just don't have enough information in

19   front of me to make a ruling on that right now, so we'll

20   issue that in writing.

21             Any other --

22                  ATTY GARDINER:  And the scheduling order will

23   also be issued in writing, I'm assuming?

24                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Yeah, I mean, obviously,

25   if this is converted to a BAP, we're not going to have the
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 1   same scheduling order.  I did want to still have everyone

 2   work out a schedule, in the event that it's not converted,

 3   because I don't want to have to come back and redo this

 4   hearing.  I was just trying to be a little efficient with

 5   everybody's time and just, you know, efficient with the

 6   timeline of this proceeding.

 7                  ATTY GARDINER:  Appreciate it.

 8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Does public counsel have

 9   anything before we adjourn?

10                  ATTY SYKES:  No, nothing from public counsel.

11                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Does anybody else have

12   anything?

13                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Nothing from applicant.

14                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Nothing here.

15                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  In that case we are

16   adjourned and we are off the record.

17                       (Proceeding concluded 2:31 p.m.)
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 2                      C E R T I F I C A T E
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 4

     STATE OF WASHINGTON )   I, Ann Marie G. Allison, CCR,

 5

                         )   certified court reporter, State of

 6

     COUNTY OF PIERCE    )   Washington, do hereby certify:

 7

 8       That the foregoing hearing was taken before me and

     completed on July 22, 2025, and thereafter transcribed by

 9   me; that the foregoing hearing is a full, true and complete

     transcript of all questions, answers, objections, motions

10   and exceptions;

11       That I am not a relative, employee, attorney or counsel

     of any party to this action, or relative or employee of any

12   such attorney or counsel, and that I am not financially

     interested in the said action or the outcome thereof;

13

         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my signature on

14   the 29th day of July, 2025.
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19                                 ______________________________
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		231						LN		9		6		false		           6   different.  The convenience to the customer is different.				false

		232						LN		9		7		false		           7             In a broader sense, competition fosters innovation				false

		233						LN		9		8		false		           8   and improved service.  I did a test to see if Lakeside				false

		234						LN		9		9		false		           9   Transportation is different or end responsive, and --				false

		235						LN		9		10		false		          10   without the client even knowing, and it turned out that the				false

		236						LN		9		11		false		          11   price is not predatory; it's higher.  It offers a demand of				false

		237						LN		9		12		false		          12   different areas.  And there's no harm to competition by				false

		238						LN		9		13		false		          13   having additional players in a market who offer distinct				false

		239						LN		9		14		false		          14   services, additional operators who offer transportation on				false

		240						LN		9		15		false		          15   demand to and from the airport.				false

		241						LN		9		16		false		          16             So for those reasons, Lakeside would respectfully				false

		242						LN		9		17		false		          17   request the UTC deny disposing of this matter on a brief				false

		243						LN		9		18		false		          18   adjudicated proceeding.  This requires more evidentiary				false

		244						LN		9		19		false		          19   examination of facts.				false

		245						LN		9		20		false		          20                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  So I think, really, the				false

		246						LN		9		21		false		          21   question would be, do you expect to engage in discovery?  Is				false

		247						LN		9		22		false		          22   that something that you find necessary in this proceeding?				false

		248						LN		9		23		false		          23                  ATTY PHILLIPS:  Certainly.  Certainly, it is.				false

		249						LN		9		24		false		          24                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  So at this point				false

		250						LN		9		25		false		          25   I'm going to take the motion and the responses under				false

		251						PG		10		0		false		page 10				false

		252						LN		10		1		false		           1   advisement, and I will issue a decision in writing.				false

		253						LN		10		2		false		           2             For now we are going to continue on with the				false

		254						LN		10		3		false		           3   pre-hearing conference, and then we will issue a decision,				false

		255						LN		10		4		false		           4   but assuming that we are going to move forward, I would like				false

		256						LN		10		5		false		           5   to still continue with this conference so that if we do end				false

		257						LN		10		6		false		           6   up -- if we don't end up converting this to a BAP, I'd like				false

		258						LN		10		7		false		           7   to have some kind of procedural schedule together.  So from				false

		259						LN		10		8		false		           8   here we're still going to continue on, and then, like I				false

		260						LN		10		9		false		           9   said, we will issue a decision.				false

		261						LN		10		10		false		          10             Are there -- not including PNTS, are there any				false

		262						LN		10		11		false		          11   petitions to intervene in this matter?  Are there any				false

		263						LN		10		12		false		          12   parties wishing to petition to intervene on the line?				false

		264						LN		10		13		false		          13             Okay.  Hearing none, we'll move on.				false

		265						LN		10		14		false		          14             So I would like to discuss a procedural schedule				false

		266						LN		10		15		false		          15   in the event that we end up needing one.  Have any of the				false

		267						LN		10		16		false		          16   parties had the opportunity to discuss a procedural schedule				false

		268						LN		10		17		false		          17   with each other?				false

		269						LN		10		18		false		          18                  ATTY KIMBALL:  We have not.				false

		270						LN		10		19		false		          19                  ATTY GARDINER:  Unfortunately not,				false

		271						LN		10		20		false		          20   Your Honor.  I was just brought on yesterday afternoon.				false

		272						LN		10		21		false		          21                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  Would you -- would				false

		273						LN		10		22		false		          22   you prefer that -- to have a little bit of time where you				false

		274						LN		10		23		false		          23   can discuss a procedural schedule?  And I can step off.  Or				false

		275						LN		10		24		false		          24   do any of the parties feel like that would be beneficial?				false

		276						LN		10		25		false		          25                  ATTY KIMBALL:  On behalf of the applicant, I				false

		277						PG		11		0		false		page 11				false

		278						LN		11		1		false		           1   think it might be helpful to have the opportunity to discuss				false

		279						LN		11		2		false		           2   with Mr. Gardiner his thoughts on discovery issues and				false

		280						LN		11		3		false		           3   possibly, you know, even depositions, although I don't				false

		281						LN		11		4		false		           4   anticipate those at this time.				false

		282						LN		11		5		false		           5             But I think it would be helpful for us to have the				false

		283						LN		11		6		false		           6   opportunity to briefly discuss what we would be looking at,				false

		284						LN		11		7		false		           7   should a BAP not be a pursuit.				false

		285						LN		11		8		false		           8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  So this is what we				false

		286						LN		11		9		false		           9   will do.  We can take a brief recess, and I will leave the				false

		287						LN		11		10		false		          10   meeting so that you can discuss any of those issues you				false

		288						LN		11		11		false		          11   think might arise.  Also, if you want to discuss a schedule,				false

		289						LN		11		12		false		          12   I mean, in a worst-case scenario, I guess we can have				false

		290						LN		11		13		false		          13   everybody just email their proposed schedules and the				false

		291						LN		11		14		false		          14   Commission can try to figure it out.  But at that point you				false

		292						LN		11		15		false		          15   kind of lose control over when hearings are going to be and				false

		293						LN		11		16		false		          16   then it's just really up to us to decide, and I don't know				false

		294						LN		11		17		false		          17   if anybody necessarily wants that.				false

		295						LN		11		18		false		          18             So I think it would be great if we could have a				false

		296						LN		11		19		false		          19   brief recess so that you could discuss those issues and also				false

		297						LN		11		20		false		          20   a procedural schedule.				false

		298						LN		11		21		false		          21                  ATTY GARDINER:  That's fine.  That's fine				false

		299						LN		11		22		false		          22   here.  I don't think it should take us too long.  We can				false

		300						LN		11		23		false		          23   chat -- we can chat on this Zoom, I think, is what you're				false

		301						LN		11		24		false		          24   suggesting?				false

		302						LN		11		25		false		          25                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Sure.  Sure.  That way				false

		303						PG		12		0		false		page 12				false

		304						LN		12		1		false		           1   staff and public counsel can also participate.  I am going				false

		305						LN		12		2		false		           2   to figure out how to leave the meeting, and so we will go				false

		306						LN		12		3		false		           3   off the record.				false

		307						LN		12		4		false		           4                       (Off record 1:42-2:23 p.m.)				false

		308						LN		12		5		false		           5                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Is there an agreement to a				false

		309						LN		12		6		false		           6   procedural schedule?				false

		310						LN		12		7		false		           7                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Yes.				false

		311						LN		12		8		false		           8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Does anybody in particular				false

		312						LN		12		9		false		           9   want to read the procedural schedule into the record?  If				false

		313						LN		12		10		false		          10   not, I'll have staff's attorney do it.				false

		314						LN		12		11		false		          11                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Staff's attorney is fine.  I				false

		315						LN		12		12		false		          12   think we've discussed it extensively.				false

		316						LN		12		13		false		          13                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Mr. O'Brien, are you okay				false

		317						LN		12		14		false		          14   with reading the procedural schedule into the record?				false

		318						LN		12		15		false		          15                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Yes, Your Honor.				false

		319						LN		12		16		false		          16             So the procedural schedule the parties have agreed				false

		320						LN		12		17		false		          17   to is initial testimony due October 10.				false

		321						LN		12		18		false		          18             Response testimony due October 31.				false

		322						LN		12		19		false		          19             There's a bunch of dates that parties want to have				false

		323						LN		12		20		false		          20   on November 14th, would be rebuttal and cross-answering,				false

		324						LN		12		21		false		          21   witness lists and discovery cutoff.				false

		325						LN		12		22		false		          22             Hearing on November 19th and 20th and post-hearing				false

		326						LN		12		23		false		          23   briefs on December 12th.				false

		327						LN		12		24		false		          24                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  Are the parties				false

		328						LN		12		25		false		          25   recommending or are they just requesting one round of				false

		329						PG		13		0		false		page 13				false

		330						LN		13		1		false		           1   briefing?				false

		331						LN		13		2		false		           2                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  That was the plan.  Yes,				false

		332						LN		13		3		false		           3   Your Honor.				false

		333						LN		13		4		false		           4                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  And you're anticipating				false

		334						LN		13		5		false		           5   two days for the hearing?				false

		335						LN		13		6		false		           6                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Probably only one, but it's				false

		336						LN		13		7		false		           7   better to have two if we can reserve.				false

		337						LN		13		8		false		           8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  And then I just				false

		338						LN		13		9		false		           9   want to make sure that all the parties are aware that, of				false

		339						LN		13		10		false		          10   course, this proceeding is going to be limited based on the				false

		340						LN		13		11		false		          11   WAC, which actually was discussed by Mr. Hamilton.  So I				false

		341						LN		13		12		false		          12   just want to make sure that through the discovery process				false

		342						LN		13		13		false		          13   and everything, that everybody is aware that we are limited				false

		343						LN		13		14		false		          14   to the issues that are listed in WAC 480-30-116.  Okay?				false

		344						LN		13		15		false		          15             So there are currently no intervenors, so I'm not				false

		345						LN		13		16		false		          16   going to discuss intervenor funding right now.				false

		346						LN		13		17		false		          17             So next we're going to discuss data requests.  If				false

		347						LN		13		18		false		          18   the parties have a discovery dispute, they should attempt to				false

		348						LN		13		19		false		          19   work those out in good faith, but if not, then you can bring				false

		349						LN		13		20		false		          20   motions before the Commission for resolution.  Of course, I				false

		350						LN		13		21		false		          21   would encourage the parties to be collaborative and reach				false

		351						LN		13		22		false		          22   out to opposing counsel before filing a motion to compel or				false

		352						LN		13		23		false		          23   a motion to strike testimony for a discovery violation.				false

		353						LN		13		24		false		          24             Have the parties discussed a shortening --				false

		354						LN		13		25		false		          25   discussed shortening the response time for data requests				false

		355						PG		14		0		false		page 14				false

		356						LN		14		1		false		           1   which is normally ten days?				false

		357						LN		14		2		false		           2                  ATTY KIMBALL:  We did not have that				false

		358						LN		14		3		false		           3   discussion.  I would request ten days.				false

		359						LN		14		4		false		           4                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  We can stick with				false

		360						LN		14		5		false		           5   the ten days.  It's just always good to ask.				false

		361						LN		14		6		false		           6                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Your Honor, I don't know if it				false

		362						LN		14		7		false		           7   would be possible within the discovery rules; would it be				false

		363						LN		14		8		false		           8   possible to have a shortened turnaround time for data				false

		364						LN		14		9		false		           9   requests submitted on November 14th, given that we're doing				false

		365						LN		14		10		false		          10   the discovery cutoff on the 14th and the hearing on the				false

		366						LN		14		11		false		          11   19th?				false

		367						LN		14		12		false		          12                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Let me look into that.  I				false

		368						LN		14		13		false		          13   don't have the discovery rules right in front of me, so				false

		369						LN		14		14		false		          14   that's something that I will have to take under advisement				false

		370						LN		14		15		false		          15   and we can include in the pre-hearing conference order.				false

		371						LN		14		16		false		          16                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.				false

		372						LN		14		17		false		          17                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  You're welcome.  Thank you				false

		373						LN		14		18		false		          18   for bringing that up.				false

		374						LN		14		19		false		          19             So I guess just moving on with the data request,				false

		375						LN		14		20		false		          20   parties often request any data requests and responses are				false

		376						LN		14		21		false		          21   shared with every other party.  It would make it easier on				false

		377						LN		14		22		false		          22   the parties by including such a requirement in the				false

		378						LN		14		23		false		          23   pre-hearing conference order.  Is there any objection to				false

		379						LN		14		24		false		          24   that requirement?				false

		380						LN		14		25		false		          25                  ATTY KIMBALL:  No objection.				false

		381						PG		15		0		false		page 15				false

		382						LN		15		1		false		           1                  ATTY GARDINER:  No objection.				false

		383						LN		15		2		false		           2                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  No objection.				false

		384						LN		15		3		false		           3                  ATTY SYKES:  No objection.				false

		385						LN		15		4		false		           4                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  So moving on to the				false

		386						LN		15		5		false		           5   protective orders, would the parties like a protective order				false

		387						LN		15		6		false		           6   in this matter?				false

		388						LN		15		7		false		           7                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Yes.				false

		389						LN		15		8		false		           8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  We will issue a				false

		390						LN		15		9		false		           9   standard protective order in conjunction with the				false

		391						LN		15		10		false		          10   pre-hearing conference order in this matter.				false

		392						LN		15		11		false		          11             All right.  So next is electronic filing and				false

		393						LN		15		12		false		          12   electronic service.  The Commission requires electronic				false

		394						LN		15		13		false		          13   filing of documents for formal filings.  Commission rules				false

		395						LN		15		14		false		          14   provide for electronic service of documents.  The Commission				false

		396						LN		15		15		false		          15   will serve the parties electronically and the parties will				false

		397						LN		15		16		false		          16   serve each other electronically, and if any party has not				false

		398						LN		15		17		false		          17   yet designated a lead representative for service, please do				false

		399						LN		15		18		false		          18   so via email to us as soon as possible.				false

		400						LN		15		19		false		          19             You can email me at Jessica, J-E-S-S-I-C-A, dot				false

		401						LN		15		20		false		          20   Kruszewski, K-R-U-S-Z-E-W-K-S-I, at UTC.WA.GOV.  And if				false

		402						LN		15		21		false		          21   anybody would like to add names and emails addresses of				false

		403						LN		15		22		false		          22   other representatives or support staff who should receive				false

		404						LN		15		23		false		          23   electronic courtesy copies of all documents filed in this				false

		405						LN		15		24		false		          24   proceeding, please email that to me as well.				false

		406						LN		15		25		false		          25             Under WAC 480-07-461(b), the deadline for filing				false

		407						PG		16		0		false		page 16				false

		408						LN		16		1		false		           1   errata sheets to exhibits may be established in the				false

		409						LN		16		2		false		           2   pre-hearing conference order.  Does anybody have an				false

		410						LN		16		3		false		           3   objection for setting that deadline a week prior to the				false

		411						LN		16		4		false		           4   evidentiary hearing?				false

		412						LN		16		5		false		           5                  ATTY GARDINER:  No objection.				false

		413						LN		16		6		false		           6                  ATTY KIMBALL:  No objection.				false

		414						LN		16		7		false		           7                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  No objection.				false

		415						LN		16		8		false		           8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Is there anything else				false

		416						LN		16		9		false		           9   that any party would like to address before we adjourn?				false

		417						LN		16		10		false		          10                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Nothing from the applicant.				false

		418						LN		16		11		false		          11                  ATTY GARDINER:  Nothing here.				false

		419						LN		16		12		false		          12                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  Anything from				false

		420						LN		16		13		false		          13   staff?				false

		421						LN		16		14		false		          14                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Just wanting to confirm that				false

		422						LN		16		15		false		          15   the request to potentially convert this into a BAP				false

		423						LN		16		16		false		          16   proceeding is still under advisement, Your Honor.				false

		424						LN		16		17		false		          17                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  We'll issue a written				false

		425						LN		16		18		false		          18   decision on that.  I just don't have enough information in				false

		426						LN		16		19		false		          19   front of me to make a ruling on that right now, so we'll				false

		427						LN		16		20		false		          20   issue that in writing.				false

		428						LN		16		21		false		          21             Any other --				false

		429						LN		16		22		false		          22                  ATTY GARDINER:  And the scheduling order will				false

		430						LN		16		23		false		          23   also be issued in writing, I'm assuming?				false

		431						LN		16		24		false		          24                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Yeah, I mean, obviously,				false

		432						LN		16		25		false		          25   if this is converted to a BAP, we're not going to have the				false

		433						PG		17		0		false		page 17				false

		434						LN		17		1		false		           1   same scheduling order.  I did want to still have everyone				false

		435						LN		17		2		false		           2   work out a schedule, in the event that it's not converted,				false

		436						LN		17		3		false		           3   because I don't want to have to come back and redo this				false

		437						LN		17		4		false		           4   hearing.  I was just trying to be a little efficient with				false

		438						LN		17		5		false		           5   everybody's time and just, you know, efficient with the				false

		439						LN		17		6		false		           6   timeline of this proceeding.				false

		440						LN		17		7		false		           7                  ATTY GARDINER:  Appreciate it.				false

		441						LN		17		8		false		           8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Does public counsel have				false

		442						LN		17		9		false		           9   anything before we adjourn?				false

		443						LN		17		10		false		          10                  ATTY SYKES:  No, nothing from public counsel.				false

		444						LN		17		11		false		          11                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Does anybody else have				false

		445						LN		17		12		false		          12   anything?				false

		446						LN		17		13		false		          13                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Nothing from applicant.				false

		447						LN		17		14		false		          14                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Nothing here.				false

		448						LN		17		15		false		          15                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  In that case we are				false

		449						LN		17		16		false		          16   adjourned and we are off the record.				false

		450						LN		17		17		false		          17                       (Proceeding concluded 2:31 p.m.)				false

		451						LN		17		18		false		          18				false

		452						LN		17		19		false		          19				false

		453						LN		17		20		false		          20				false

		454						LN		17		21		false		          21				false

		455						LN		17		22		false		          22				false

		456						LN		17		23		false		          23				false

		457						LN		17		24		false		          24				false

		458						LN		17		25		false		          25				false

		459						PG		18		0		false		page 18				false

		460						LN		18		1		false		           1				false

		461						LN		18		2		false		           2                      C E R T I F I C A T E				false

		462						LN		18		3		false		           3				false

		463						LN		18		4		false		           4				false

		464						LN		18		4		false		               STATE OF WASHINGTON )   I, Ann Marie G. Allison, CCR,				false

		465						LN		18		5		false		           5				false

		466						LN		18		5		false		                                   )   certified court reporter, State of				false

		467						LN		18		6		false		           6				false

		468						LN		18		6		false		               COUNTY OF PIERCE    )   Washington, do hereby certify:				false

		469						LN		18		7		false		           7				false

		470						LN		18		8		false		           8       That the foregoing hearing was taken before me and				false

		471						LN		18		8		false		               completed on July 22, 2025, and thereafter transcribed by				false

		472						LN		18		9		false		           9   me; that the foregoing hearing is a full, true and complete				false

		473						LN		18		9		false		               transcript of all questions, answers, objections, motions				false

		474						LN		18		10		false		          10   and exceptions;				false

		475						LN		18		11		false		          11       That I am not a relative, employee, attorney or counsel				false
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           1                  BE IT REMEMBERED that on Tuesday, July 22,



           2   2025, 1:30 p.m., before JUDGE JESSICA KRUSZEWSKI, via video



           3   conference platform, the following proceedings were had, to



           4   wit:



           5                       (All parties present via Zoom video)



           6



           7                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Good afternoon.  We're



           8   here today for a pre-hearing conference in Docket TC-250362,



           9   which is captioned in the matter of The Application of



          10   Lakeside Transportation for authority to operate as an auto



          11   transportation company in the State of Washington.



          12             My name is Jessica Kruszewski.  I am an



          13   administrative law judge with the Washington Utilities and



          14   Transportation Commission, and I will be presiding in this



          15   matter, and I will be issuing an initial order.



          16             So I do want to start by taking appearances for



          17   the record.  So for the record, can I please have the



          18   representative for Lakeside Transportation please identify



          19   yourself.



          20                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Again, it's Mark Kimball, lead



          21   counsel, and Ben Phillips, who is working with me on the



          22   matter.  And then our client, Mr. Haile Selassie, is also



          23   present with us in our conference room here.



          24                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Great.  Thank you.



          25             Can we have the representative for PNTS please
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           1   identify themselves?



           2                  ATTY GARDINER:  Good afternoon.  Hamilton



           3   Gardiner of Holmquist & Gardiner, PLLC, and we are



           4   representing PNTS in this matter.



           5                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay, great.  Thank you.



           6             Can we have commission staff?



           7                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Yes.  Colin O'Brien, assistant



           8   attorney general representing staff.



           9                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Thank you.  And can we



          10   have public counsel?



          11                  ATTY SYKES:  Yes.  Rob Sykes, assistant



          12   attorney general for public counsel.



          13                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay, great.  Do we



          14   have -- are there any organizations on the call that want to



          15   give a verbal notice of appearance?



          16             Hearing none, we will move on.



          17             Before we get started are there any preliminary



          18   matters anybody would like to address?



          19                  ATTY GARDINER:  None from us.



          20                  ATTY KIMBALL:  None from us.



          21                  ATTY GARDINER:  Your Honor, the only thing



          22   that -- I don't know if it's a preliminary matter or when



          23   you'd like to address it would be our motion to convert this



          24   to a brief adjudication matter.  I'm not sure if you want to



          25   address that now or later.
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           1                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Let's go ahead and address



           2   that now if you want to -- if you want to start with your



           3   motion, and then we'll get responses.



           4                  ATTY GARDINER:  Sure.  Okay.  So as was



           5   indicated by my client in the email to everybody that's on



           6   this call and the Zoom call, is that PNTS would request that



           7   this matter be converted over to a brief adjudication



           8   matter.  And the authority to do so is -- would be under WAC



           9   480-07-61, subsection f, where matters which are suitable



          10   for brief adjudication are applications for authority to



          11   provide auto transportation service to which a company



          12   properly objects, for which here PNTS timely did object to



          13   the application made by Lakeside Transportation.



          14             In their application they indicated the reasons



          15   why is that being the same service area is already covered;



          16   the service that is being provided by PNTS is satisfactory



          17   and there is no reason for duplicate services here.



          18             Under WAC 480-30-116, subsection 3, the



          19   adjudication of applications subject to an objection filed



          20   under RCW 81.68.040 will be accomplished in the simplest and



          21   most expeditious manner consistent with state law.  The



          22   adjudication will be limited to the question of whether the



          23   objecting company holds a certificate to provide the same



          24   service in the same territory where the objecting company



          25   provides the same service and whether an objecting company,
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           1   here, PNTS, will provide the same service to the



           2   satisfaction of the Commission.



           3             So under those specific statutes, we'd ask that



           4   this matter be converted to a brief adjudication.



           5                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Thank you for that.



           6             Can we get a response from Lakeside



           7   Transportation?



           8                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Mr. Phillips will be



           9   responding.



          10                  ATTY PHILLIPS:  Thank you, Your Honor.



          11             Briefly, as a procedural matter, it was my



          12   understanding that this was disposed of by the Court



          13   previously by email, in which we lodged our objection to an



          14   accelerated proceeding or any expedited basis for disposing



          15   of this matter on a BAP, brief adjudicated procedure.



          16             Um, as to the merits of that, we did not fully



          17   brief the merits in preparation to bring them down on the



          18   record, but if the Court is so disposed, we can have that



          19   briefing.



          20             I've reviewed the briefing as to the merits that



          21   opposing counsel's brought up, but I'm not prepared to



          22   give -- into depth into those on a brief adjudicated basis



          23   this afternoon.  This hearing was for setting a case



          24   schedule, is my understanding.



          25                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Sure, it is.  We did
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           1   indicate by email that we would possibly entertain an oral



           2   motion at this hearing.  We can't take motions by email, so



           3   the email exchanges aren't really sufficient.



           4             So I think -- well, let me hear from staff and



           5   public counsel first and their positions.  Do we have



           6   staff -- can we have -- do you have a response to the



           7   motion?



           8                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Yes, Your Honor.  Staff



           9   doesn't oppose the conversion to a brief adjudicated



          10   proceeding in this matter.



          11                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Public Counsel, do you



          12   have a position?



          13                  ATTY SYKES:  Public counsel takes no



          14   position.



          15                  ATTY PHILLIPS:  If the Court is so disposed,



          16   we can continue to present more reasons.



          17                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Sure.  I think mostly I



          18   would just want to know what the basis would be for your



          19   objection to a BAP.



          20                  ATTY PHILLIPS:  Well, in brief, having an



          21   additional service is not duplicative.  It serves the public



          22   necessity to have an additional service.  The representation



          23   that the -- that the services of Premier and Lakeside



          24   Limousine are identical is incorrect, which evidentiary



          25   examination will bear out.
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           1             The, um -- the service coverage areas are



           2   distinct.  The type of service is different.  I believe



           3   Premier offers scheduled service in a -- for multiple



           4   parties.  Lakeside service is on demand.  The type of



           5   vehicle is different.  The price -- the price point is



           6   different.  The convenience to the customer is different.



           7             In a broader sense, competition fosters innovation



           8   and improved service.  I did a test to see if Lakeside



           9   Transportation is different or end responsive, and --



          10   without the client even knowing, and it turned out that the



          11   price is not predatory; it's higher.  It offers a demand of



          12   different areas.  And there's no harm to competition by



          13   having additional players in a market who offer distinct



          14   services, additional operators who offer transportation on



          15   demand to and from the airport.



          16             So for those reasons, Lakeside would respectfully



          17   request the UTC deny disposing of this matter on a brief



          18   adjudicated proceeding.  This requires more evidentiary



          19   examination of facts.



          20                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  So I think, really, the



          21   question would be, do you expect to engage in discovery?  Is



          22   that something that you find necessary in this proceeding?



          23                  ATTY PHILLIPS:  Certainly.  Certainly, it is.



          24                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  So at this point



          25   I'm going to take the motion and the responses under
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           1   advisement, and I will issue a decision in writing.



           2             For now we are going to continue on with the



           3   pre-hearing conference, and then we will issue a decision,



           4   but assuming that we are going to move forward, I would like



           5   to still continue with this conference so that if we do end



           6   up -- if we don't end up converting this to a BAP, I'd like



           7   to have some kind of procedural schedule together.  So from



           8   here we're still going to continue on, and then, like I



           9   said, we will issue a decision.



          10             Are there -- not including PNTS, are there any



          11   petitions to intervene in this matter?  Are there any



          12   parties wishing to petition to intervene on the line?



          13             Okay.  Hearing none, we'll move on.



          14             So I would like to discuss a procedural schedule



          15   in the event that we end up needing one.  Have any of the



          16   parties had the opportunity to discuss a procedural schedule



          17   with each other?



          18                  ATTY KIMBALL:  We have not.



          19                  ATTY GARDINER:  Unfortunately not,



          20   Your Honor.  I was just brought on yesterday afternoon.



          21                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  Would you -- would



          22   you prefer that -- to have a little bit of time where you



          23   can discuss a procedural schedule?  And I can step off.  Or



          24   do any of the parties feel like that would be beneficial?



          25                  ATTY KIMBALL:  On behalf of the applicant, I
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           1   think it might be helpful to have the opportunity to discuss



           2   with Mr. Gardiner his thoughts on discovery issues and



           3   possibly, you know, even depositions, although I don't



           4   anticipate those at this time.



           5             But I think it would be helpful for us to have the



           6   opportunity to briefly discuss what we would be looking at,



           7   should a BAP not be a pursuit.



           8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  So this is what we



           9   will do.  We can take a brief recess, and I will leave the



          10   meeting so that you can discuss any of those issues you



          11   think might arise.  Also, if you want to discuss a schedule,



          12   I mean, in a worst-case scenario, I guess we can have



          13   everybody just email their proposed schedules and the



          14   Commission can try to figure it out.  But at that point you



          15   kind of lose control over when hearings are going to be and



          16   then it's just really up to us to decide, and I don't know



          17   if anybody necessarily wants that.



          18             So I think it would be great if we could have a



          19   brief recess so that you could discuss those issues and also



          20   a procedural schedule.



          21                  ATTY GARDINER:  That's fine.  That's fine



          22   here.  I don't think it should take us too long.  We can



          23   chat -- we can chat on this Zoom, I think, is what you're



          24   suggesting?



          25                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Sure.  Sure.  That way
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           1   staff and public counsel can also participate.  I am going



           2   to figure out how to leave the meeting, and so we will go



           3   off the record.



           4                       (Off record 1:42-2:23 p.m.)



           5                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Is there an agreement to a



           6   procedural schedule?



           7                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Yes.



           8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Does anybody in particular



           9   want to read the procedural schedule into the record?  If



          10   not, I'll have staff's attorney do it.



          11                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Staff's attorney is fine.  I



          12   think we've discussed it extensively.



          13                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Mr. O'Brien, are you okay



          14   with reading the procedural schedule into the record?



          15                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Yes, Your Honor.



          16             So the procedural schedule the parties have agreed



          17   to is initial testimony due October 10.



          18             Response testimony due October 31.



          19             There's a bunch of dates that parties want to have



          20   on November 14th, would be rebuttal and cross-answering,



          21   witness lists and discovery cutoff.



          22             Hearing on November 19th and 20th and post-hearing



          23   briefs on December 12th.



          24                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  Are the parties



          25   recommending or are they just requesting one round of
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           1   briefing?



           2                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  That was the plan.  Yes,



           3   Your Honor.



           4                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  And you're anticipating



           5   two days for the hearing?



           6                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Probably only one, but it's



           7   better to have two if we can reserve.



           8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  And then I just



           9   want to make sure that all the parties are aware that, of



          10   course, this proceeding is going to be limited based on the



          11   WAC, which actually was discussed by Mr. Hamilton.  So I



          12   just want to make sure that through the discovery process



          13   and everything, that everybody is aware that we are limited



          14   to the issues that are listed in WAC 480-30-116.  Okay?



          15             So there are currently no intervenors, so I'm not



          16   going to discuss intervenor funding right now.



          17             So next we're going to discuss data requests.  If



          18   the parties have a discovery dispute, they should attempt to



          19   work those out in good faith, but if not, then you can bring



          20   motions before the Commission for resolution.  Of course, I



          21   would encourage the parties to be collaborative and reach



          22   out to opposing counsel before filing a motion to compel or



          23   a motion to strike testimony for a discovery violation.



          24             Have the parties discussed a shortening --



          25   discussed shortening the response time for data requests
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           1   which is normally ten days?



           2                  ATTY KIMBALL:  We did not have that



           3   discussion.  I would request ten days.



           4                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  We can stick with



           5   the ten days.  It's just always good to ask.



           6                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Your Honor, I don't know if it



           7   would be possible within the discovery rules; would it be



           8   possible to have a shortened turnaround time for data



           9   requests submitted on November 14th, given that we're doing



          10   the discovery cutoff on the 14th and the hearing on the



          11   19th?



          12                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Let me look into that.  I



          13   don't have the discovery rules right in front of me, so



          14   that's something that I will have to take under advisement



          15   and we can include in the pre-hearing conference order.



          16                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.



          17                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  You're welcome.  Thank you



          18   for bringing that up.



          19             So I guess just moving on with the data request,



          20   parties often request any data requests and responses are



          21   shared with every other party.  It would make it easier on



          22   the parties by including such a requirement in the



          23   pre-hearing conference order.  Is there any objection to



          24   that requirement?



          25                  ATTY KIMBALL:  No objection.
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           1                  ATTY GARDINER:  No objection.



           2                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  No objection.



           3                  ATTY SYKES:  No objection.



           4                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  So moving on to the



           5   protective orders, would the parties like a protective order



           6   in this matter?



           7                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Yes.



           8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  We will issue a



           9   standard protective order in conjunction with the



          10   pre-hearing conference order in this matter.



          11             All right.  So next is electronic filing and



          12   electronic service.  The Commission requires electronic



          13   filing of documents for formal filings.  Commission rules



          14   provide for electronic service of documents.  The Commission



          15   will serve the parties electronically and the parties will



          16   serve each other electronically, and if any party has not



          17   yet designated a lead representative for service, please do



          18   so via email to us as soon as possible.



          19             You can email me at Jessica, J-E-S-S-I-C-A, dot



          20   Kruszewski, K-R-U-S-Z-E-W-K-S-I, at UTC.WA.GOV.  And if



          21   anybody would like to add names and emails addresses of



          22   other representatives or support staff who should receive



          23   electronic courtesy copies of all documents filed in this



          24   proceeding, please email that to me as well.



          25             Under WAC 480-07-461(b), the deadline for filing
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           1   errata sheets to exhibits may be established in the



           2   pre-hearing conference order.  Does anybody have an



           3   objection for setting that deadline a week prior to the



           4   evidentiary hearing?



           5                  ATTY GARDINER:  No objection.



           6                  ATTY KIMBALL:  No objection.



           7                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  No objection.



           8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Is there anything else



           9   that any party would like to address before we adjourn?



          10                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Nothing from the applicant.



          11                  ATTY GARDINER:  Nothing here.



          12                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  Anything from



          13   staff?



          14                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Just wanting to confirm that



          15   the request to potentially convert this into a BAP



          16   proceeding is still under advisement, Your Honor.



          17                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  We'll issue a written



          18   decision on that.  I just don't have enough information in



          19   front of me to make a ruling on that right now, so we'll



          20   issue that in writing.



          21             Any other --



          22                  ATTY GARDINER:  And the scheduling order will



          23   also be issued in writing, I'm assuming?



          24                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Yeah, I mean, obviously,



          25   if this is converted to a BAP, we're not going to have the
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           1   same scheduling order.  I did want to still have everyone



           2   work out a schedule, in the event that it's not converted,



           3   because I don't want to have to come back and redo this



           4   hearing.  I was just trying to be a little efficient with



           5   everybody's time and just, you know, efficient with the



           6   timeline of this proceeding.



           7                  ATTY GARDINER:  Appreciate it.



           8                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Does public counsel have



           9   anything before we adjourn?



          10                  ATTY SYKES:  No, nothing from public counsel.



          11                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Does anybody else have



          12   anything?



          13                  ATTY KIMBALL:  Nothing from applicant.



          14                  ATTY O'BRIEN:  Nothing here.



          15                  JUDGE KRUSZEWSKI:  Okay.  In that case we are



          16   adjourned and we are off the record.



          17                       (Proceeding concluded 2:31 p.m.)
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               STATE OF WASHINGTON )   I, Ann Marie G. Allison, CCR,

           5

                                   )   certified court reporter, State of

           6

               COUNTY OF PIERCE    )   Washington, do hereby certify:

           7



           8       That the foregoing hearing was taken before me and

               completed on July 22, 2025, and thereafter transcribed by

           9   me; that the foregoing hearing is a full, true and complete

               transcript of all questions, answers, objections, motions

          10   and exceptions;



          11       That I am not a relative, employee, attorney or counsel

               of any party to this action, or relative or employee of any

          12   such attorney or counsel, and that I am not financially

               interested in the said action or the outcome thereof;
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